
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 22 March 2023  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Planning 
Committee  

     
 

 

Thursday, 30 March 2023 at 1.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Paul Fellows, 
Councillor Julia Reid, Councillor Penny Robins, Councillor Ian Selby,  
Councillor Judy Stevens, Councillor Ian Stokes, Councillor Mary Whittington, 
Councillor Paul Wood and Vacancy (Alliance SK) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date,  
via the SKDC Public-I Channel 

 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2023 
 

(Pages 3 - 34) 

  
Planning matters 
 

To consider applications received for the grant of planning 
permission – reports prepared by the Case Officer.    

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the 
agenda, but this may be subject to change, at the 

discretion of the Chairman of the Committee. 

 
 
 
 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

4.   Application S22/1865 

Proposal:                    Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and 
blocking up of existing opening to Cheyne Lane. 
Works associated with S19/2237. 

Location:                    Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk 
and 16 St Marys Street, Stamford, PE9 2DF 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
approve the application subject to the following 
conditions. 

 

(Pages 35 - 48) 

5.   Application S22/1866 

Proposal:                    Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and 
blocking up of existing opening to Cheyne Lane. 
Works associated with S19/2237. 

Location:                    Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk 
and 16 St Marys Street, Stamford, PE9 2DF 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
approve the application subject to the following 
conditions. 

 

(Pages 49 - 60) 

6.   Application S22/2055 

Proposal:                    Erection of two storey detached dwelling with 
garage 

Location:                    Land To The Rear Of 44 Halfleet, Market 
Deeping, PE6 8DB 

Recommendation:    To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
REFUSE planning permission  

 

(Pages 61 - 76) 

7.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



1 
 

Minutes 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Thursday, 2 March 2023, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber – South 
Kesteven House, St.Peter’s Hill, 
Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ 

 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Julia Reid 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Mary Whittington 
Councillor Paul Wood 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Robert Reid 
 

Officers 
 

Nicola McCoy Brown (Director of Growth and Culture)  
Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning) 
Phil Jordan (Development Management & Enforcement Manager) 
Adam Murray (Principal Planning Officer) 
Ellie Sillah (Principal Planning Officer) 
Shemuel Seikh (Legal Advisor) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 
70. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Penny Robins.  

 
Councillor Robert Reid substituted for Councillor Penny Robins.  

 
71. Disclosure of interests 

 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing declared an objection and interest on Application 
S22/0683 and clarified that he would not take part in the debate or vote.  

 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

72. Minutes of the meeting held on 2 February 2023 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 February 2023 were proposed, seconded and 
AGREED as a correct record.  

 
73. Application S22/0683 

 
Proposal:                                  Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 41 

unit retirement living facility, car parking spaces, 
access, landscaping and ancillary development 

 

Location:                                   Land off Priory Road, Stamford 
 

Recommendation:                    To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to 
GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 
and completion of a Section 106 Agreement.  

Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 
 

District Ward Councillor:               Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Applicant’s Agent:                         Rachel Clare 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Design Guidelines for Rutland and South 
Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document, Lincolnshire Minerals ad Waste 
Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD and 
Stamford Neighborhood Plan 2016-2036.  

• Comments received from Anglian Water. 

• No comments received from Cadent Gas. 

• Comments received from Environment Agency.  

• No comments received from The Association of Gardens Trust. 

• Comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire.  

• Comments received from Historic England.  

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and SuDS). 

• No comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Minerals Planning 
Authority). 

• No comments received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. 

• No comments received from Lincolnshire Police.  

• Comments received from NHS Lincolnshire.  

• Comments received from SKDC Affordable Housing Officer. 

• Comments received from SKDC Conservation Consultee.  

• Comments received from SKDC Environmental Protection Officer.  

• Comments received from SKDC Arboricultural Consultee.  

• Comments received from SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer. 

• Comments received from Stamford Town Council.  

• Comments received from Ward Member.  

4



3 
 

 
During questions to Public Speakers, Members commented on: 

 

• Concern was raised from the site visit around the ability to cross the proposed 
site to local amenities. It was queried what improved pedestrian crossings 
would be implemented and whether it would be a formal type of crossing.  
  

The Applicant’s agent reassured the Committee with the proposed installation of 
dropped curb areas and tactile paving around the Uffington and Priory Road area, 
which had been in consultation with Highways. 

 
The Principal Planning Officer highlighted that the crossing would not be controlled 
in terms of being a zebra or pelican crossing. Highways had advised that the road 
did not meet their adopted design standards in terms of providing a controlled 
crossing due to the geometry of the road and positioning. Additional signage in the 
area had been discussed with Highways, who were happy to pursue signage to 
provide motorists with warnings that a higher number of elderly people may be 
crossing in that area. 

 

• Stamford Town Council had objected against the application. It was queried 
as to whether the Applicant had re-consulted with Stamford Town Council 
following the proposal to include crossing measures. It was confirmed that 
Stamford Town Council were still objecting to the proposal.  

• Concern was raised around the overall layout of the proposal and the 
accessibility to recreational activities for the elderly residents.  
 

The Applicant’s agent outlined that the southern elevation in the garden would 
include areas for seating. A communal lounge with a connecting roof terrace would 
be situated on the top floor of the building. There was also a public right of way 
network adjacent to the building which would be made more accessible. 

 

• Whether Highways had provided information around safety data regarding 
speed limits and the nearby roundabout. 
 

Highways had further reiterated that there were no concerns of safety in relation to 
the results of the accident data. The signage would provide increased awareness of 
the possibility of an elderly individual crossing the road.  

 

• Clarification was sought on whether the minimum age to be eligible for an 
apartment on the proposed site was 60 years of age, it was noted that 
individuals may still be active at this age.  

• It was queried as to whether the Applicant’s agent would be willing to 
contribute to Highways should signs be put up as a result of an informative for 
elderly people to cross the road.  
 

The Applicant’s agent had confirmed the scheme had been through a viability 
review, and viability contributions that had been deemed affordable from the 

5



4 
 

scheme. The Applicant’s agent could not commit to any decision on behalf of the 
Applicant.  

 

• Concern was raised in relation to car parking and the possibility of a high 
number of carers attending the apartments at busy times of day. It was 
queried as to whether this had been considered by the Applicant.  
 

It was highlighted that the scheme did not support extra care provisions and merely 
encouraged independent living. There was no requirement for a minimum level of 
care. The type of living would encourage individuals to adaptable living e.g., level 
access and lift access. 

 
The on-site parking exceeded Lincolnshire County Council’s Highways standards 
for the type of scheme proposed and the Applicant’s independent research.  

 
The Principal Planning Officer confirmed a Transport Assessment had been 
completed which investigated vehicles generated by the scheme into a database 
that modelled those vehicles in timings of movement and the capacity of road 
network. Highways were satisfied that the findings of the Transport Assessment 
were robust in terms of resident, staff and visitors needs. 

 

• A query was raised on whether there would be access at the back of the site 
that would lead down to the river.  
 

It was confirmed that the public right of way route would be unaffected by the 
scheme so would still be available to access along the western boundary of the site.  

 

• Concern was raised around comments made by the Council’s urban designer. 
It was queried as to whether the small balconies would still be included on one 
of the elevations if the Committee were minded to approve the application.  
 

The Applicant’s agent highlighted that each apartment would have a surround 
feature for greater enclosure. Residents would also have access to communal 
outdoor spaces.  

 
It was confirmed by the Principal Planning Officer that the written comments 
provided by the Urban Design Officer were on a previous iteration of the scheme. 
Since the stone surround had been added into the scheme, the Urban Design 
Officer had verbally confirmed they were comfortable with the scheme presented to 
the Committee.  

 
During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 

 

• Whether Highways had calculated and accounted for the age of the residents 
that would be crossing the road.  
 

The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that condition 24 restricted occupants of 
the apartments at aged 60 and above.  

6



5 
 

 

• What sanctions would be in place if Highways or the Applicant denied the 
informative of the installation of signage.  
 

It was noted that Highways were satisfied with the scheme at present and would not 
be an unacceptable impact. An informative could be included to pursue the route of 
signage if Highways were willing to follow the informative.  

 
One Member suggested that the division Lincolnshire County Councillor requested 
a Traffic Regulation Order to investigate the speed of traffic entering the roundabout 
near the site and safe public footpath access between the site and the river.  

 
Members discussed their concern over the protection of members of the public from 
the public footpath that ran alongside a drop into the nearby quarry.  

 
It was requested that a stoned wall on the adjacent side of the development to 
protect members of public from the drop into the quarry should be conditioned.  

 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined that condition 10 required submission of 
revised details for boundary treatments. The current proposals by the Applicant 
were for a series of metal rail fence around all boundaries of the site 

 
One Member raised concern around the screening of the application and the loss of 
trees.  

 
It was confirmed that condition 9 included the retention of existing boundary trees 
and native tree species to be planted as replacement planting.  

 
Further concern was raised on the notion of care workers. It was queried as to 
whether the Lincolnshire County Council traffic survey included the provision of 
care workers possibly attending the apartments.  

 
The traffic survey was a national modelling database that was used. There were 
various inputs into the model dependent on the nature of the scheme, area and 
type of accommodation.   

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions and completion of a 
Section 106 Agreement.  

 
Time Limit for Commencement 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  

 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely 

manner, as set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended) 

7



6 
 

 

Approved Plans 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following list of approved plans:  

 

a. Proposed Site Plan (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-001- Rev A) 

b. Proposed Elevations Plan 1 (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-020-RevA) 

c. Proposed Elevations Plan 2(Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-021 

d. Proposed Ground Floor Plan (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-023) 

e. Proposed First Floor Plan(Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-024) 

f. Proposed Second Floor Plan (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-025) 

g. Proposed Third Floor Plan (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-026-RevA)  

h. Proposed Roof Plan (Ref: MI-2771-02-AC-027) 

i. Proposed Tree Protection Plan (Ref: 1651-KC-XX-YTREE-

TPP01-RevB) 

j. Proposed Levels Strategy (Ref: MI-2771-03-DE-001-RevA) 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

Before the Development is Commenced 

 

Archaeological Investigations 

 

3) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written 

scheme of archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

programme shall also provide for archaeological supervision and 

control during any groundworks associated with the development in the 

Root Protection Areas.  

 

The archaeological investigations shall also have been completed in 

accordance with the approved details before the development 

commences.  

 

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the 

history of the site and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Demolition and Construction Management Plan 

 

4) No development shall take place, including demolition of buildings 

hereby approved, until a Demolition Method Statement and 

8



7 
 

Construction Management Plan and Method Statement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The Plan and Statement shall include measures to mitigate the adverse 

impacts of vehicle activity and the means to manage drainage of the 

site during the construction stage of the permitted development. It shall 

include:  

 

a. The phasing of the development to include access construction 

b. The on-site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

c. The on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials 

d. The on-site storage of all plant and materials used in 

constructing the development 

e. Wheel washing facilities;  

f. A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the 

development will be managed during construction and protection 

measures for any sustainable drainage features. This should 

include drawing(s) showing how the drainage systems 

(temporary or permanent) connect to an outfall (temporary or 

permanent) during construction.  

g. Method statement for how demolition and removal works of the 

existing buildings will be undertaken.  

 

The Demolition Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to 

throughout the demolition period.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be 

strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of those using 

the adjacent public highway and to ensure that the permitted 

development is adequately drained without creating or increasing flood 

risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, the permitted 

development during construction.  

 

Ground Investigations 

 

5) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, until there 

have been submitted to and approved in writing:  

 

a. A desk top study documenting all the previous and existing land 

uses of the site and adjacent land (Phase 1);  

 

Should the Phase I Study identify potentially contaminative uses, the 

Applicant shall proceed to a Phase 2 site investigation detailed below:  

9



8 
 

 

b. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the 

site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as 

appropriate by the desk top study; and if required 

c. A detailed scheme for remedial works (should such works be 

required) and measures to be undertaken to avoid risk from 

contaminants and / or gases when  the site is developed and 

proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a 

scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to 

oversee the implementation of the works.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have 

caused, or had the potential to cause, land contamination and to 

ensure that the proposed site investigations and remediation will not 

cause pollution in the interests of the amenities of future residents 

and users of the development; and in accordance with Local Plan 

Policy EN4 (Pollution Control) and national guidance contained in 

the NPPF.  

 

Surface and Foul Water Drainage Details 

 

6) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for 

the treatment of surface and foul water drainage shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The drainage details must:  

 

a. Be based on an assessment of the hydrological and 

hydrogeological context of the development 

b. Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and 

attenuated during storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year 

critical storm event, with an allowance for climate change, from 

all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing 

local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without 

exceeding the runoff rate for the undeveloped site.  

c. Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be 

restricted to the brownfield runoff rate 

d. Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of the 

implementation for the drainage scheme; and  

e. Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and 

managed over the lifetime of the development, including any 

arrangements for the adoption by any public body or Statutory 

Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 

operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime.  

 

10



9 
 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately 

drained without creating or increasing the flood risk to land or property, 

adjacent to or downstream of, or upstream of, the permitted 

development and in accordance with Policy EN5 of the South Kesteven 

Local Plan.  

 

During Building Works 

 

Materials Details 

 

7) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby 

permitted are begun, details of the materials (including the colour of 

render, paintwork or colourwash) and elevational detailing to be used in 

the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

permitted shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. Materials shall be in broad accordance with 

the details shown on the Proposed Elevations Plans (Ref: MI-2771-02-

AC-020-RevA and MI-2771-02-AC-021). 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan.  

 

Ecological Mitigation  

 

8) All works on site, during demolition and construction, shall be carried 

out in accordance with the recommendations set out in the Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (Inspired 

Ecology Limited) (dated March 2022).  

 

The scheme of bird and bat boxes to be installed on site shall have 

been completed prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 

permitted, and shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the 

development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance 

with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Soft Landscaping Details – Revised Plans 

 

9) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development above foundation 

level shall take place until there have been submitted to and approved 

in writing, details of a revised soft landscaping scheme to include the 

retention of the existing boundary trees (where possible) and additional 

planting of native tree species. The submitted scheme shall include:  

11



10 
 

 

a. Planting plans  

b. Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 

associated with plant and grass establishment) 

c. Scheduled of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 

numbers / densities where appropriate 

 

Reason: Soft landscaping makes an important contribution to the 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in 

accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Boundary Treatment Details – Revised Details 

 

10) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development above foundation 

level shall take place until there have been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority, a plan indicating the 

positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment or other 

means.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development, and 

in the interests of residential amenity of future occupants, and in 

accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Tree Protection Measures  

 

11) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence until the Tree 

Protection Measures indicated on the Tree Protection Plan (Ref: 1651-

KC0ZZ0YTREE-TPP01RevB) have been implemented in full. 

Thereafter, the development must be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details.  

 

Reason: Trees make an important contribution to the character and 

quality of urban environments and can also help to mitigate and adapt 

to climate change, in accordance with Policy EN2 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Previously Unidentified Contamination 

 

12) If, during the development, contamination not previously identified is 

found to be present at the site, then no further development (unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be 

carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination 

will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority.  

Thereafter, the remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  

12



11 
 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is 

not put at, unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, 

unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified 

contamination sources at the development site.  

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

 

13) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied / brought into 

use, the external elevations must have been completed in accordance 

with the approved external materials details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan.  

 

Contamination Verification  

 

14) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or brought 

into use until a verification report has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall have been 

submitted by the agreed competent person and identify that the 

approved remedial works have been implemented. The report shall 

include, unless otherwise agreed in writing:  

 

a. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected, 

as identified in the remediation scheme to support compliance 

with the agreed remediation objectives 

b. As built drawings of the implemented scheme 

c. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and  

d. Certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in 

situ is free from contamination.  

 

Thereafter, the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in 

accordance with the approved remediation scheme.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, 

or had the potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the 

proposed site investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in 

the interests of the amenities of future residents and users of the 

development; and in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan and national guidance contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  

13



12 
 

 

Drainage Implementation 

 

15) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied / 

brought into use, the works to provide the surface and foul water 

drainage shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 

details.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water 

drainage in accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan.  

 

Sustainable Building Measures 

 

16) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied / 

brought into use, the sustainable building measures detailed in the 

approved Energy Statement (Focus Consultants) (Revision B) shall 

have been implemented in full.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development mitigates against and adapts to 

climate change, in accordance with Local Plan Policy SB1 and SD1.  

 

Hard Landscaping Implementation 

 

17) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all 

hard landscaping works shall have been carried out in accordance with 

the approved details.  

 

Reason: Hard landscaping makes an important contribution to 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in 

accordance with Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Boundary Treatments Implementation 

 

18) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the 

boundary treatments as approved under Condition 10 shall have been 

completed in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan.  

 

Noise Mitigation  

 

14



13 
 

19) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the 

scheme for acoustic mitigation and ventilation, as detailed in Section 5 

and Section 6 of the approved Noise Impact Assessment (24 

Acoustics) (Ref: P9421-1 Rev 1) shall have been completed in full.  

 

Reason: To ensure that future residents of the development benefit 

from an appropriate level of amenity in accordance with Policy DE1 and 

EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Off-Site Highways Works 

 

20) No part of the development hereby permitted, shall be occupied before 

the works to improve the public highway, in accordance with Drawing 

No. 508.0032.004 Rev A (dated September 2021) have been certified 

complete by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate means of 

access to the permitted development.  

 

Public Right of Way Improvements 

 

21) No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied before 

the works to upgrade the Public Right of Way (Stam/1163/1) with a 

surfaced of crushed stone have been completed in accordance with 

details, which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate means of 

access to the permitted development.  

 

Ongoing 

 

Landscaping Implementation 

 

22) Before the end of the first planting / seeding season following the first 

occupation of the development hereby permitted, all soft landscaping 

works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved soft 

landscaping details  

 

Reason: Soft landscaping makes an important contribution to 

development and its assimilation with its surroundings and in 

accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.   

 

Landscaping Protection 

 

15



14 
 

23) Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final 

dwelling / unit of the development hereby permitted, any trees or plants 

provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme, that die or 

become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously 

damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first planting season 

following any such loss with a specimen of the same size and species, 

unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a 

reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved 

designs and in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN2 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Occupation Restriction 

 

24) The development hereby permitted shall be used for the purposes of 

retirement accommodation only. Occupiers shall be:  

 

a. Persons of 60 or over 

b. Other persons who are living as part of a single household with a 

person or persons aged 60 or over 

c. Persons who were living as part of a single household with a 

person or persons aged 60 or over who have since died.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 
74. Application S22/2073 

 
Proposal:                                  Residential development comprising the erection of 

four detached dwellings and 
renovation/enlargement of existing dwelling 

Location:                                   The Gables, Honington Road, Barkston, 
Lincolnshire, NG32 2NG 

Recommendation:                    To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 

 
Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 

 
Against:                                       David Baker 

                                           Beryl Hencher 
 

Together with: 
 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven District Council Local Plan 2011-2036 
and National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

• No comments received from Barkston Parish Council. 

16



15 
 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and SuDS). 

• Comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire.  
 

(Councillor Julia Reid left the meeting at 14:45) 
 

During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• One Member commented on the density of the proposed development.  
 

It was acknowledged that plots 2 and 3 were large in scale. The application had 
been assessed on its own merits and it had been deemed acceptable due to the 
separation distances and the style of the properties.  

 

• Whether the proposed development and plots 2 and 3, complied with policies 
SP2, SP3C, DE1A and DE1B.  
 

The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that the character of the development had 
been assessed and was considered acceptable. The separation distances met 
those suggested with the Council’s Design Guidelines SPD and were considered 
acceptable. The front elevations of plots 2 and 3 would front onto a public area and 
therefore a reduced separation distance could be considered.  

 
It was confirmed that plot 4 had a garage in between the side elevation of another 
property on an oblique angle.  

 

• Whether the proximity of plot 4 and 1 Thorold Gardens had been through 
design PAD. 
 

The development had not been through design pad, this scale of development 
would not always be considered by design PAD.  

 
The relationship between plot 4 and 1 Thorold Gardens was considered to be 
acceptable where 2 properties were adjacent to one another.  

 

• A query was raised around the representations received to the Council on the 
application.  
 

The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that the objection had been received and 
considered as part of the application. All points addressed were in relation to 
amenity, which had been assessed in detail against the relevant policies of the 
Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

• Whether any windows would overlook plot 2 and the appropriateness of 
requesting obscure-glazed windows.  
 

It was confirmed that there would be 6 windows on the rear elevation of plot 2, the 
separation distance was above the 21-metre guidance for back-to-back dwellings. 3 

17



16 
 

of the windows would serve an en-suite or bathroom, which could be conditioned 
for obscure glazed windows.  

 

• Further clarification was sought on the relationship between the frontages of 
plots 2 and 3 in relation to the 25-degree rule.  
 

The 25-degree guidance would apply to the rear of a property impacting the rear of 
another property. The 25-degree guidance did not necessarily apply in this instance 
due to the front elevation fronting onto a public realm in terms of overlooking.  

 
Members raised disappointment over the layout and scale of the some of the 
properties on the site and the lack of a sensitive design. The relevant policies were 
discussed in relation to the sensitivity of adjacent properties, nature and character, 
scale and massing which could result in overdevelopment of the site. Concern was 
raised regarding overlooking of plot 2 onto existing properties.  

 
Concern was raised on the impact the application may have on existing residents in 
the rural area.  

 
One Member noted the poor condition of the trees as seen at the site visit.  

 
The Assistant Director of Planning highlighted paragraph 7.7.5 of the report, which 
outlined the consideration of whether trees would be suitable for protection or not. 
The conclusion was that the trees were not suitable for a Tree Protection Order.  

 

• A query was raised regarding the 25-degree guidance in relation to rural areas 
with regards to plots 2 and 3. Representation had noted that the degree line 
had been breached.  

• What the outcome of an appeal decision would be if the application was 
refused in relation to the 25-degree guidance.  
 

Plots 2 and 3 were either side of a standard road and set back from the road itself. 
If the plots were back-to-back and the 25-degree guidance was breached, the 
application would have been considered to have an unacceptable impact on 
amenity and design changes would have been requested in terms of layout.  

 
The Development Management & Enforcement Manager clarified that the 25-
degree rule was guidance that was embedded within existing policies regarding 
existing residents and future occupiers in terms of impact on amenity. The wording 
around the 25-degree rule was explained to Members.  

 
A query was raised regarding plans to adopt the road and if it would be ‘public’ or 
remain a private access.   

 
The Development Management & Enforcement Manager clarified that even if the 
access road was private and not adopted, the intervisibility between the properties 
would be the same between the two future occupiers and would still be used by 
vehicles.  

18



17 
 

 
The Committee expressed further concern around the design and proximity 
between plot 2 and 3, further issues around the brick wall elevation of plot 4 and 
overlooking of other properties.  

 
The Assistant Director of Planning sought further clarification from the Committee 
on reasons for refusal regarding relationships between the properties within plots or 
properties adjoining the plots.  

 
It was queried as to whether climate change mitigation could be included within the 
application.   

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to REFUSE the application by virtue of its 
layout and design being cramped and contrived and out of keeping with the 
prevailing character of the area (size and massing of plots 2 and 3) and has a poor 
relationship with the surrounding dwellings causing harm to the amenity of the area 
and the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers. Contrary to policies SP2/3 C/D, 
DE1 A and B.  

 
75. Application S22/1718 

 
Proposal:                                  Outline application for redevelopment of site for 

mixed use development comprising of Class C3(a) 
(Residential) and Class E(c)(ii) (Office) 
(Appearance, Layout and Scale for Approval) 

Location:                                   Ross Thain & Co LTD, Belton Street, Stamford 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director to GRANT 

planning permission, subject to conditions and 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement. 

 
During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 

 

• Whether the parking permit scheme allowed public parking during certain 
hours of the day.  
 

The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that the parking permits were be primarily 
used by the occupiers of the townhouses. There was an allowance within the 
scheme to allow short term parking of no more than 2 hours.  

 
It was noted that the 2011 site specific census data was utilised rather than census 
data from 2021, where arithmetical sums had changed.  

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to completion of a Section 106 
Agreement, and subject to the schedule of conditions as set out in the Addendum 
Report: 

 
Time Limit for Commencement  

19



18 
 

 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or two years 

from the approval of the last reserved matters, whichever is the latter.  

 

Reason: In order that development is commenced in a timely manner, 

as set out in Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended).  

 

2) Details of the reserved matters set out below shall have been submitted 

to the Local Planning Authority for approval within three years from the 

date of this permission:  

 

i. Access 

ii. Landscaping 

 

Approval of all reserved matters shall have been obtained from the 

Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is 

commenced. 

 

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the 

development in detail and in order that the development is commenced 

in a timely manner, as set out in Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended)  

 

Approved Plans 

 

3) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following list of approved plans (in relation to the scale, 

appearance and layout only):  

 

i. Proposed Block Plan (Ref: 1298/03/Rev H) 

ii. Proposed Site Layout (Ref: 1298/04/Rev E) 

iii. Proposed Block A Floor Plan (Ref: 1298/05/Rev C) 

iv. Proposed Block B Floor Plan (Ref: 1298/06/Rev B) 

v. Proposed Elevation Plan – Belton Street / Gas Street / 

Tenter Lane (Ref: 1298/07/Rev D) 

vi. Proposed Elevation Plan – Internal Courtyard (Ref: 

1298/08/Rev C) 

vii. Site Section Plan (Ref: 1298/09/Rev C) 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

20



19 
 

Before the Development is Commenced 

 

Demolition and Construction Management Plan 

 

4) No development shall take place, including demolition of buildings 

hereby approved, until a Demolition Method Statement and 

Construction Management Plan and Method Statement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

which shall include measures to mitigate against noise, dust and 

vibration, traffic generated and drainage of the site during the 

demolition and construction stages of the proposed development.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall 

include:  

 

i) The phasing of the development to include access construction 

ii) The parking of vehicles and site operatives and visitors 

iii) The loading and unloading of plant and materials 

iv) The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development 

v) Wheel washing facilities 

vi) The routes of construction traffic to and from the site including 

any off site routes for the disposal of excavated material 

vii) A strategy stating how surface water runoff on and from the 

development will be managed; and 

viii) Method statement for how demolition and removal works of the 

existing buildings will be undertaken.  

 

The Demolition Method Statement shall be strictly adhered to 

throughout the demolition period.  

 

The Construction Management Plan and Method Statement shall be 

strictly adhered to throughout the construction period.  

 

Ground Investigations 

 

5) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, until there 

have been submitted to and approved in writing:  

 

a. A desk stop study documenting all the previous and existing land 

uses of the site and adjacent land (Phase 1);  

 

Should the Phase 1 Study identify potentially contaminative uses, the 

Applicant shall proceed to a Phase 2 site investigation detailed below:  

21



20 
 

 

b. A site investigation report assessing the ground conditions of the 

site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as 

appropriate by the desk top study; and if required 

c. A detailed scheme for remedial works (should such works be 

required) and measures to be undertaken to avoid risk from 

contaminants and / or gases when the site is developed and 

proposals for future maintenance and monitoring. Such a 

scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to 

oversee the implementation of the works.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, 

or had the potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the 

proposed site investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in 

the interests of the amenities of future residents and users of the 

development; and in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN4 (Pollution 

Control) and national guidance contained in the NPPF.  

 

Asbestos Survey 

 

6) No works pursuant to this permission shall commence, including 

demolition of the buildings hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority, until a detailed asbestos 

survey of the buildings to be demolished have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 

development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the 

approved details.  

 

Reason: Details are required to be submitted prior to the 

commencement of works to ensure that the risks from asbestos to the 

environment, future users of the site and neighbouring land users are 

minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 

safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-

site receptors.  

 

Acoustic Assessment 

 

7) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an 

Acoustic Survey (including assessment of the noise impacts of the 

existing, adjacent land uses, and the commercial and residential uses 

of the application site) shall have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, any noise mitigation 

measures identified as necessary within the submitted report shall be 

completed prior to the first occupation / use of the development hereby 

permitted.  

22



21 
 

 

Reason: To ensure future occupants of the development benefit from 

an appropriate noise environment, and development does not impose 

any restrictions on the existing industrial land uses within the vicinity of 

the site, in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN4 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Archaeological Investigations 

 

8) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a written 

scheme of archaeological investigation shall have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

The archaeological investigations shall also have been completed in 

accordance with the approved details before the development 

commences.  

 

Reason: In order to provide a reasonable opportunity to record the 

history of the site and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Surface and Foul Water Drainage details 

 

9) Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, a scheme for 

the treatment of surface and foul water drainage shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The drainage details must:  

 

a. Be based on an assessment of the hydrological and 

hydrogeological context of the development 

b. Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and 

attenuated during storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year 

critical storm event, with an allowance for climate change, from 

all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing 

local drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without 

exceeding the runoff rate for the undeveloped site.  

c. Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be 

restricted to the brownfield runoff rate.  

d. Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of the 

implementation for the drainage scheme; and  

e. Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and 

managed over the lifetime of the development, including any 

arrangements for the adoption by any public body or Statutory 

Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 

operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

23



22 
 

 

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately 

drained without creating or increasing the flood risk to land or property 

adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, the permitted 

development and in accordance with Policy EN5 of the South Kesteven 

Local Plan. 

 

Undercroft Access Control  

 

10) As part of any application for the access reserved matters, details of 

access control measures to the proposed undercroft access point 

beneath Block A of the approved development, shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the approved measures shall be implemented prior to the 

first occupation of the development hereby permitted.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of crime, and the fear of crime and disorder, 

in accordance with Section 12 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

  

Secure Bicycle Storage 

 

11) As part of any application for the landscaping reserved matters, details 

of the location, scale, and appearance of the proposed bicycle storage 

areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details prior to the first occupation of the development.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of crime and disorder, and to ensure that 

the development is appropriate for the character and appearance of the 

area, in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan.  

 

During Building Works 

 

Materials Details 

 

12) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby 

permitted are begun details of the materials (including the colour of the 

render, paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the 

external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

24



23 
 

Materials shall be in broad accordance with the details shown on the 

Proposed Elevations Plans (Ref: 1298/07/Rev D and 1298/08/Rev C). 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Sustainable Building Measures 

 

13) Before any works on the external elevations of the development hereby 

permitted are begun, details demonstrating how the approved scheme 

would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy SB1 shall 

have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of how carbon 

dioxide emissions would be minimised through the design and 

construction of the development; details of water efficiency; and the 

provision of electric car charging points.  

 

The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, 

in accordance with the approved scheme, prior to first occupation of the 

development.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development mitigates against and adapts to 

climate change, in accordance with Local Plan Policy SB1 and SD1.  

 

Ecological Mitigation 

 

14) All works on site, during demolition and construction, shall be carried 

out in accordance with the recommendations set out in the Protected 

Species Survey (Phillip Irving) (September 2021), including the 

installation of bird and bat nesting boxes. 

 

The scheme of bird and bat boxes to be installed on site shall be 

completed prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 

permitted, and shall be retained throughout the lifetime of the 

development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of best ecological practice and in accordance 

with Policy EN2 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

15) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (Ref: ECL0554/RTKSTAMFORD) dated 

September 2022 and the mitigation measures outlined in Section 5.  

 

25



24 
 

These mitigation measures shall be implemented fully prior to first 

occupation of the development and shall be retained and maintained 

thereafter for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development.  

 

Previously Unidentified Contamination 

 

16) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found 

to be present at the site, then no further development (unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out 

until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be 

dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority.  

 

Thereafter, the remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is 

not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, 

unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified 

contamination sources at the development site.  

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

 

17) Before the development hereby permitted is occupied / brought into 

use, the external elevations must have been completed in accordance 

with the approved external material details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan.  

 

Obscure Glazing 

 

18) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the 

first floor windows in the Tenter Lane elevations shall have been 

installed with obscure glazing and with no opening part being less than 

1.7m above the floor level immediately below the centre of the opening 

part. In addition, the frameless glass balustrade to the second floor of 

the Tenter Lane elevation shall also have been installed with obscure 

glazing. All obscure glazing must be obscured to a minimum of 

Pilkington – Privacy Level 3 or an equivalent product. Once installed, 

26



25 
 

the window units and balustrade shall thereafter be retained as such  at 

all times.  

 

Reason: To safeguarding the privacy of occupies of the neighbouring / 

adjoining properties.  

 

Drainage Implementation 

 

19) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied / 

brought into use, the works to provide the surface and foul water 

drainage shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 

details.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water 

drainage in accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven 

Local Plan.  

 

Contamination Verification 

 

20) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or brought 

into use until a verification report has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall be submitted 

by the agreed competent person and identify that the approved 

remedial works have been implemented. The report shall include, 

unless otherwise agreed in writing:  

 

a. A complete record of remediation activities, and data collected 

as identified in the remediation scheme, to support compliance 

with the agreed remediation objectives;  

b. As built drawings of the implemented scheme  

c. Photographs of the remediation works in progress; and  

d. Certificates demonstrating that important and / or material left in 

situ is free from contamination.  

 

Thereafter, the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in 

accordance with the approved remediation scheme.  

 

Reason: Previous activities associated with this site may have caused, 

or had the potential to cause, land contamination and to ensure that the 

proposed site investigations and remediation will not cause pollution in 

the interests of the amenities of future residents and users of the 

development; and in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South 

Kesteven Local Plan and national guidance contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  

 

27



26 
 

Dropped Kerbs  

 

21) Within seven days of the first occupation of the development hereby 

permitted, the existing dropped kerbs shall be reinstated to full height 

kerbs on Gas Street, Tenter Lane and Belton Street, as agreed in 

writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the safety of users of 

the public highway.  

 

Gas Street Parking Bays and Footway 

 

22) No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied / 

brought into use before the works to provide the parking bays on Gas 

Street and the associated relocation of the public footway, as shown on 

Drawing No. 1298/03/Rev H have been certified as complete by the 

Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision of safe and adequate means of 

access and parking to the serve the permitted development.  

 
 

76. Application S22/1567 
 

Proposal:                                   Erection of four detached bungalows 
Location:                                   Land at 255 Harrowby Lane, Grantham, 

Lincolnshire, NG31 9TT 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 

GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 
 

Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 
 

District Ward Councillor:            Councillor George Chivers 
Parish Council Clerk:                 Peter Armstrong 
Applicant’s Agent:                      John Dickie 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within South Kesteven Local Plan 2011 – 2036, National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 

• Comments received from Harrowby and Londonthorpe Without Parish 
Council. 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and SuDS). 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust.  
 

During questions to Public Speakers, Members commented on: 
 

28



27 
 

• Who the boundary fence currently belonged to? It was noted that the pillars on 
the boundary fence required upgrading. 
 

It was confirmed that the boundary fence was the property of a previously 
demolished bungalow.  

 

• That the ground of the proposed site became waterlogged due to a nearby 
reservoir.  

• Whether a bus stop was within close proximity of the site.  
 

There was a bus stop around the corner from the site on Fifth Avenue, Grantham. 
 

The Applicant’s agent identified a beech tree to be the most appropriate in a 
particular corner of the site. It would be considerable time before it grew to its fullest 
extent and was merely a landscaping choice of the agent.  

 

• Clarification was sought regarding mitigating impacts on climate change and 
whether the Applicant had ambitions of including ground source heat pumps 
and solar panels.  
 

It was confirmed that the proposal would include solar panels on south facing roofs 
and ground source heat pumps to comply with the latest building regulations.  

 

• Whether the proposal would include grey water recycling.  
 

During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• That the boundary was not an accurate depiction and was on the verge of 
overlapping gardens on Fifth Avenue, Grantham.  
 

The DM Manager highlighted that the line of the boundary had been plotted 
incorrectly. Page 172 of the agenda pack provided an accurate site layout plan, as 
approved.  

 

• Whether Officers were satisfied with the refuse collection issues raised.  
 

It was confirmed that the bin drag distance was 40 meters from bin storage location 
to the side of the road. Prospective buyers would need to take the bin drag distance 
into account when buying the properties. Whilst not ideal, it was not considered to 
be an unacceptable distance.  

 
The Chairman noted that the proposal was an improvement from the outline 
planning permission.  

 

• Whether there was a more appropriate positioning and location of the beech 
tree due to the tree straddling another piece of land and not being totally 
contained within the site.  

29



28 
 

• Concern was raised on the representation received from Harrowby & 
Londonthorpe without Parish Council on their fear of the site being too narrow 
for an emergency service to access.  
 

It was queried as to whether the width of the driveway was appropriate or whether it 
could be made wider.  

 
The DM Manager confirmed that the access drive was 4.31 meters. The minimum 
Lincolnshire County Council required for a driveway of that nature was 4.1 meters. 
There had been no objections from the Highway Authority and the width of the 
access was appropriate.  

 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED to authorize the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions:  

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before 

the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely 
manner, as set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following list of approved plans: 
 

1. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/LOCATION/001 - Site Location Plan 
(Received on 04 August 2022) 
2. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/SITE/001B - Site Layout (Received 
on 30 September 2022) 
3. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/P1/001B - Plot One Layout and 
Elevations (Received on 16 November 2022) 
4. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/P2-4/001B - Plots 2 - 4 Layouts and 
Elevations (Received on 16 November 2022) 
5. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/P4/GAR/001 - Plot Four Garage 
Plans (Received on 24 October 2022) 
6. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/DRAINAGE/001 - Drainage Layout 
(Received on 04 August 2022) 
7. Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/Lighting/001 - Lighting Layout 
(Received on 04 August 2022) 

 
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this 
permission.  
 
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of 
doubt. 

 
3 The development hereby permitted shall be strictly carried out in 

30



29 
 

accordance with the Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan and CMP Site Layout Plan (Drawing No: 
JDA/2022/695/SITE/CEMP/001), received on 01 March 2023. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately 
drained without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property 
adjacent to, or downstream of, the permitted development during 
construction and to ensure that suitable traffic routes are agreed 

 
4 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is 

occupied/brought into use, the external elevations shall have been 
completed using only the materials stated in the planning 
application forms and approved plans. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development 
and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven 
Local Plan. 

 
5 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is 

occupied/brought into use, all hard landscape works shall have 
been carried out in accordance with the approved hard 
landscaping details as shown on Drawing No: 
JDA/2022/695/SITE/001B - Site Layout. 

 
Reason: Hard landscaping and tree planting make an important 
contribution to the development and its assimilation with its 
surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted 
South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
6 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the recommendations contained within section 6 
(Recommended Mitigation and Safeguarding Measures) and 
section 7 (Recommended Ecological Enhancements) of the 
Ecological Appraisal prepared by Allied Ecology, dated 11 October 
2022 (Report Ref: 22055 - Ecological Appraisal vf). 

 
Reason: In the interests of the protection of local wildlife and to 
accord with the provision of Local Plan Policy DE1 and EN2. 

 
7 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is 

occupied/brought into use, the works to provide an area for the 
storage of refuse and recycling shall have been completed in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be 
retained for use at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the 
storage of refuse. 
 

31



30 
 

8 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is 
occupied/brought into use, the works to provide the surface and 
foul water drainage shall have been completed in accordance with 
the details as shown on the approved plans. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul 
water drainage is provided in accordance with the provisions of the 
adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
9 Before the end of the first planting/seeding season following the 

occupation/first use of any part of the development hereby 
permitted, all soft landscape works shall have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved soft landscaping details as shown 
on Drawing No: JDA/2022/695/SITE/001B - Site Layout. 
 
Reason: Soft landscaping and tree planting make an important 
contribution to the development and its assimilation with its 
surroundings and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3 and OS1 
of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 
10 The turning facilities, as shown on drawing No: 

JDA/2022/695/SITE/C shall be provided on site prior to the first 
occupation of any dwelling hereby approved and shall thereafter 
remain available for that purpose. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

11      Before the access is brought into use all obstructions exceeding 
0.6 metres high shall be cleared from the land within the visibility 
splays illustrated on drawing number JDA/2022/695/SITE/001C 
and thereafter, the visibility splays shall be kept free of 
obstructions exceeding 0.6 metres in height. 
 
Reason: So that drivers intending entering the highway at the 
access may have sufficient visibility of approaching traffic to judge 
if it is safe to complete the manoeuvre. 
 

 
12 Within a period of five years from the first occupation of the final 

dwelling/unit of the development hereby permitted, any trees or 
plants provided as part of the approved soft landscaping scheme, 
that die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, 
seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the first 
planting season following any such loss with a specimen of the 
same size and species as was approved in condition above 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

32



31 
 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance 
of a reasonable standard of landscape in accordance with the 
approved designs and in accordance with Policies DE1, EN3 and 
OS1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 
 

13 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, 
electric vehicle charging points shall be made available for use for 
the occupiers of each of the approved dwellings and shall 
thereafter be retained as such for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to low 
carbon travel in accordance with Policy SB1 of the South 
Kesteven Local Plan (2020). 

 
 

77. Application S22/2287 
 

Proposal:                                  Erection of a single-storey flat roof extension to rear 
elevation following demolition of existing 
conservatory 

Location:                                   51 Stanley Street, Bourne, Lincolnshire, PE10 9BJ 
Recommendation:                    To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 

GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions  
 

During questions to Officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• Assurance was sought that the existing conservatory wall be demolished and 
that any walls where asbestos was found, be dealt with appropriately.  
 

The Assistant Director of Planning noted that asbestos was dealt with under a 
separate legislation and the construction workers on site would be required to take 
appropriate steps. This was not dealt with by the Council.   

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorize the Assistant Director of 
Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions:  

 
Time limit for commencement 

 

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely 

manner, as set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

 

 

33



32 
 

Approved Plans 

 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following list of approved plans: 

 

1.  Site Location Plan - received 21 November 2022 

2.  2022-PR32-OFA-DR-PP-01 REV A    Existing and Proposed Plans 

and Elevations - received 20 January 2023  

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

During building works 

 

Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into 

use, the external elevations shall have been completed using only the 

materials stated in the planning application forms unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and 

in accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan. 

 
78. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 

decides is urgent 
 

There were none.  
 

79. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:40. 
 
 

34



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

 

  

   

         
  

 

S22/1865 

Proposal: Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and blocking up of existing 
opening to Cheyne Lane. Works associated with S19/2237. 

Location: Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk and 16 St Marys 
Street, Stamford, PE9 2DF 

Applicant: Mr A Duce 
Agent: Jamie Burton – Swann Edwards Architecture Ltd 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 
Reason for Referral to 
Committee: 

Character and appearance of the proposed courtyard areas – DE1 
Blocking up of access in wall Cheyne Layne which has historical 
significance – EN6 

Key Issues: Character and appearance 
Conservation area & Adjacent listed buildings 
Public right of ways 
 

Technical Documents: Heritage Impact Statement 
 

 

Report Author 

Hannah Noutch, Development Management Planner 

 
01476 406080 

   

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Stamford St Mary's 

 

Reviewed by: Ellie Sillah Principal Planning Officer 20 March 2023 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 

To authorise the Assistant Director - Planning to approve the application subject to the 
following conditions. 

35

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

36



 

 
 

S22/1865 – Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk and 16 St Mary’s Street, PE9 2DF 

 

  

37



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The application site is located to the rear of the former Stamford Hotel which is located on 

St Marys Street in Stamford. The space behind this former hotel forms part of Stamford 

Walk, of which access can be gained by 3 access points. There are two openings 

providing access along Cheyne Lane and one access point from further along St Marys 

Street, which travels alongside the Black Bull.  

 

2 Description of Proposal 
 

2.1 The proposed development consists of the creation of courtyard areas within the existing 

Stamford Walk, directly to the rear of the former Stamford Hotel, to be used as 3 private 

amenity spaces in connection with the previous approval for part conversion of the former 

Stamford Hotel into flats. Creation of the courtyard would involve the blocking up of an 

existing open in the Cheyne Lane which afforded access to Stamford Walk. The courtyard 

design would consist of a series of Stamford stone walling with white oak timber access 

gates. The stone walling of the courtyards would adjoin the listed former Stamford Hotel 

and former Black Bull. 

 

2.2 Further to comments from the Conservation Officer the originally submitted plans have 

been amended from proposed brick walls to Stamford Stone, and the extent of the 

courtyards has been reduced.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

3.1 S22/1866 – Listed Building Consent - Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and blocking 

up of existing opening to Cheyne Lane. Works associated with S19/2237. – Pending 

Consideration. 

 

3.2 S19/2237 – Full Planning Permission - Conversion and change of use of (Partial) of 

existing building (Grade II* Stamford Hotel) into 1x dwellinghouse and 3x flats, with 

associated internal and external alterations – Approved Conditionally  

 

4 Policy Considerations  
 

4.1 SKDC Local Plan 2011 – 2036 

Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SD1 - The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment 

 

4.2 Neighbourhood Plan 

Stamford Neighbourhood Development Plan 

 

4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

38



 

 
 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 SKDC’s Conservation Consultant 

5.1.1 Comments Received 17/2/23 

I am in receipt of amended details to the above which now show a re-aligned and more 

ordered layout to the proposed boundary walls to be erected at the rear of the building. The 

walls are also now to be more appropriately constructed in stone with stone copings. The 

view of the rear of the Hotel from the pedestrian area to the north will now be attractively 

presented. I note however that the section of wall enclosing the Town House courtyard is 

still specified to be in brick – I assume this is an oversight on the plans. Also, the site 

location plan still shows the boundary walls in their original position. Perhaps amendments 

to the plans to clarify these points should be requested – not least for the avoidance of 

doubt.   

 

5.1.2 The existing opening onto Cheyne Lane appears to be a modern alteration to the original 

wall - there is a concrete lintol over the opening and the reveals appear to be comparatively 

recently formed. In my opinion, if it is confirmed that the opening can be blocked, this would 

be better carried out in matching stone coursed through with the existing, with the lintol 

removed. 

 

5.1.3 Comments received 23/2/23 

The points previously raised have now been dealt with. 

 

5.2 Lincolnshire County Council Highways 

5.2.1 No Objections.  

 

5.3 Stamford Town Council (comments on original plans) 

5.3.1 Strong objection. The proposed courtyard areas are of poor design and not in keeping with 

the existing grandeur of the building, contrary to SKDC Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting 

Good Quality Design). The opening to Cheyne Lane has always been used as a Public 

Right of Way and has historical significance. The blocking up of this opening is contrary to 

SKDC Local Plan Policy EN6 (Historic Environment) and Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 8 (Historic Environment). 

 

5.4 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 

5.4.1 We have no representation to make with regards to Application S22/1866. (Included here 

due reference in evaluation below). 

 

5.4.2 With regards to your enquiry relating to egress in the event of fire, fire safety guidance for 

non-domestic premises, or for buildings with two or more dwellings, states that where a final 

exit discharges into an enclosed area, further access to a place of total safety should be 

available by means of further doors or gates that can be easily opened in a manner similar 

to the final exit. 
 

5.4.3 Final exit doors should be quickly and easily openable without a key or code in the event of 

a fire. Where possible, there should be only one fastening. Any device that impedes people 

making good their escape, either by being unnecessarily complicated to manipulate or not 

39



 

 
 

being readily openable will not be acceptable. This also applies to any external gates within 

courtyards where premises are non-domestic or serve two or more dwellings. 

 

6 Representations as a result of publicity 
 

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 

Community Involvement and 3 letters of representation have been received.  The points 

raised can be summarised as follows: 

 

1.  Impact on local business trade as a result of the development and resultant 

construction works 

2.  Public right of way being blocked by closing the opening in Cheyne Lane 

3.  Safety concerns in relation to exit routes for No.17a Evaluation 

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Principle of Development 

 

7.1.1 This proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle and in accordance with Policy SD1 

(Principles of Sustainable Development) of the adopted Local Plan subject to assessment 

against site specific criteria. These include the impact of the proposal on the character or 

appearance of the area, impact on the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers, and 

impact on highway safety, which are discussed in turn as follows. 

 

7.2 Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 

7.2.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all 

development proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local 

distinctiveness vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local 

identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the 

landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an 

appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context of the area.  Part 

12 of the NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development and new development should be visually attractive as a result of 

good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 

 

7.2.2 The Local Planning Authority is required to ensure that special regard to preserving the 

Listed Buildings and their settings in relation to Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 'Act'). No harm should be caused with the historical 

assets and their surroundings requiring to be preserved or enhanced. 

 

7.2.3 The Local Planning Authority is required to ensure that with respect to any buildings or 

other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 

preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area, through the Planning 

(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 at Section 72. 
 

40



 

 
 

 

7.2.4 Furthermore, the importance of considering the impact of development on the significance 

of designated heritage assets is expressed in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). The NPPF advises that development and alterations to designated assets and 

their settings can cause harm. These policies ensure the protection and enhancement of 

the historic buildings and environments. Proposals that preserve those elements of the 

setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance should be 

treated favourably.  

 

7.2.5 Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) states amongst other criteria that the Council will 

seek to protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies 

in the National Planning Policy Framework. Proposals will be expected to take into account 

the Conservation Area Appraisals, where these have been adopted by the Council. 

 

7.2.6 Policy 8 of the adopted Stamford Neighbourhood Plan(The Historic Environment) states 

development will be supported where it conserves or enhances the significance of 

designated and non-designated heritage assets and their setting, through high quality and 

sensitive design, taking into consideration appropriate scale, materials and siting in relation 

to historic views identified within the Stamford Conservation Area Appraisals. 

 

7.2.7 Following comments from the SKDC Conservation Consultant on the original proposal, it 

was considered that the proposed layout and the proposed dividing walls to be erected 

within the rear courtyard to the building were not satisfactory and amended plans were 

submitted. The latest version of plans provided show a less complex and sprawling design, 

with the realignment now being in a more ordered fashion, with stone walls and copings, 

and timber gates. SKDC's Conservation Consultant confirmed there are now no objections 

to this scheme as these plans address the previous concerns in terms of appearance and 

layout. It is considered that this design better respects the layout of this area and now 

results in minimal intrusion whilst still providing the desired amenity space the proposal 

relates too. 

 

7.2.8 The proposed blocking up of the existing opening in the wall in Cheyne Lane is considered 

acceptable given that the proposal is for the works to be carried out in matching materials 

and it has been noted that the information provided by the applicant suggests the opening 

is of 20th Century modern construction and is not of historic significance.  

 

7.2.9 The objection from the Town Council is noted however given the above and the revisions to 

the scheme, the revised proposal is considered acceptable.  

 

7.2.10 By virtue of the design, scale and materials to be used, the proposal would be in keeping 

with the host building, streetscene and surrounding context.  The development would not 

cause harm to the setting of the adjacent listed buildings or the Stamford Conservation 

Area, in accordance with the Policy 8 of the Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, NPPF Sections 

12 and 16 and Policies DE1 and EN6 of South Kesteven Local Plan, and Sections 66 and 

72 of the Act. 

 

7.3 Impact on the neighbours' residential amenities 

 

41



 

 
 

7.3.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure there is no adverse 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of privacy 

and loss of light and provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the type and 

amount of development proposed.  Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that developments 

should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 

well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime 

and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 

cohesion and resilience. 

 

7.3.2 It has been confirmed that the proposed use of the courtyards would be in connection with 

the residential units approved under the partial conversion of the Stamford Hotel. The 

amended courtyard plans have reduced the size of the courtyards, resulting in less of the 

publicly accessed Stamford Walk Area being extended into, which serves both existing 

business and residential spaces. 

 

7.3.3 Taking into account the nature of the proposal it is considered that there would be no 

unacceptable adverse impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of adjacent 

properties in accordance with the NPPF Section 12, and Policy DE1 of the Local Plan. 

 

7.3.4 Highway issues 

 

7.3.5 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused 

on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 

 

7.3.6 The proposal would not impact on vehicular access, parking and turning facilities and would 

not have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with the NPPF 

Section 9.  

 

7.3.7 Public Right Of Way 

 

7.3.8 It has been raised in representation that the existing access which is proposed to be 

blocked up in Cheyne Lane has an established public right of way. The Case Officer has 

liaised with both Lincolnshire County Footpaths and SKDC's Legal Team and can confirm 

that there is no registered right of way in place. Whilst it is noted that there is legislation in 

Section 31 of the Highways Act which relates to a path used for a continuous period of 20 

years of more without interruption or confirmation from the owner that they prohibit its use in 

this way could become an unofficial right of way, no evidence has been provided that 

supports this. In addition, for it to become a formal right of way, an application needs to be 

made to the relevant authority. Nevertheless, approval of planning permission for the 

proposal would not prevent any such application being made and would not remove any 

legal right of way. 

 

7.3.9 Furthermore, it is considered that there are two additional access points to Stamford Walk, 

one of which is also accessed via Cheyne Lane only a short distance from the access that it 

is proposed to close (approximately 15m away). It is the view of the Case Officer that 

removing the access as proposed would not detrimentally impact on access to this area or 

the businesses with Stamford Walk due to the adequate and proportionate level of access 

that would remain in place. 

42



 

 
 

7.4 Fire Safety 

 

7.4.1 Concerns were raised by both the Ward Councillor and in representation over potential fire 

safety issues as a result of the gated courtyards and blocking up with access in Cheyne 

Lane. Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue were consulted on the original plans for the 

accompanying application S22/1866, but it would be more appropriate to discuss the 

response within this full planning application. They chose not to make any representations 

on the scheme but in direct response to the query over the original openings and layout 

they confirmed that final exit doors should be easily openable without the need for a key or 

a code and this also applies to external gates within courtyards where premises are non-

domestic or serve two or more dwellings. Therefore, as each courtyard and access gate 

would serve a single premises, this advice is not applicable in this instance. Nevertheless, 

the proposed plans do not indicate either. 

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 

home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 

recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached. 

 

10 Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 

10.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in harm to the significance of the 

Stamford Conservation Area or the setting of the adjacent listed buildings. Whilst it is 

acknowledged the proposal would result in the blocking up of an existing access point from 

Cheyne Lane to Stamford Walk, this is not a registered right of way and there would remain 

sufficient and proportionate access to Stamford Walk, including via an additional existing 

access within Cheyne Lane.  

 

10.2 Therefore, taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal would be 

appropriate for its context and would be in accordance with Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 8, NPPF (Sections 12 and 16) and Policies DE1 and EN6 of the South Kesteven 

Local Plan. 

 

10.3 RECOMMENDATION: To authorise the Assistant Director of Growth to approve the 

application subject to the following conditions. 

 

11 Conditions 
 

Time Limit for Commencement  

 

43



 

 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 

in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

Approved Plans 

 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans: 

 

i. Proposed Plan re. SE-1425-1000C received 23 February 2023 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 

 

Reason:  To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

Standard Note(s) to Applicant: 

 

1) In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive 

and proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As 

such it is considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

 

44



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

45



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

46



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

47



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

48



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

 

  

   

         
  

 

S22/1866 

Proposal: Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and blocking up of existing 
opening to Cheyne Lane. Works associated with S19/2237. 

Location: Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk and 16 St Marys 
Street, Stamford, PE9 2DF 

Applicant: Mr A Duce 
Agent: Jamie Burton – Swann Edwards Architecture Ltd 
Application Type: Listed Building Consent 
Reason for Referral to 
Committee: 

Character and appearance of the proposed courtyard areas – DE1 
Blocking up of access in wall Cheyne Layne which has historical 
significance – EN6 

Key Issues: Impact on the significance of the listed buildings 
 

Technical Documents: Heritage Impact Statement 
 

 

 

 

Report Author 

Hannah Noutch, Development Management Planner 

 
01476 406080 

   

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Stamford St Mary's 

 

Reviewed by: Ellie Sillah Principal Planning Officer 20 March 2023 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 

To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to approve the application subject to the 
following conditions. 

49

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

50



 

 
 

S22/1866 - Land Adjacent 3, 5, 22, 24 & 25 Stamford Walk, And 16 St Marys Street, PE9 2DF  

51



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The application site is located to the rear of the former Stamford Hotel which is located on 

St Marys Street in Stamford. The space behind this former hotel forms part of Stamford 

Walk, of which access can be gained by 3 access points. There are two openings 

providing access along Cheyne Lane and one access point from further along St Marys 

Street, which travels alongside the Black Bull. 

 

2 Description of Proposal 
 

2.1 This application is seeking listed building consent relating to the creation of a courtyard 

areas within the existing Stamford Walk, directly to the rear of the former Stamford Hotel, 

to be used as 3 private amenity spaces in connection with the previous approval for part 

conversion of the former Stamford Hotel into flats. Creation of the courtyard would involve 

the blocking up of an existing open in the Cheyne Lane which afforded access to Stamford 

Walk. The courtyard design would consist of a series of Stamford stone walling with white 

oak timber access gates. The walls would adjoin the listed former Stamford Hotel and 

Black Bull. 

 

2.2 Further to comments from the Conservation Officer the originally submitted plans have 

been amended from proposed brick walls to Stamford Stone, and the extent of the 

courtyards has been reduced.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

3.1 S22/1865 – Full Planning Permission - Proposed courtyard areas, walls, gates and 

blocking up of existing opening to Cheyne Lane. Works associated with S19/2237. – 

Pending Consideration 

 

3.2 S19/2237 – Full Planning Permission - Conversion and change of use of (Partial) of 

existing building (Grade II* Stamford Hotel) into 1x dwellinghouse and 3x flats, with 

associated internal and external alterations – Approved Conditionally  

 

4 Policy Considerations  
 

4.1 SKDC Local Plan 2011 – 2036 

Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment 

 

4.2 Neighbourhood Plan 

Stamford Neighbourhood Development Plan 

 

4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 SKDC’s Conservation Consultant 

52



 

 
 

5.1.1 Comments Received 17/2/23 

I am in receipt of amended details to the above which now show a re-aligned and more 

ordered layout to the proposed boundary walls to be erected at the rear of the building. 

The walls are also now to be more appropriately constructed in stone with stone copings. 

The view of the rear of the Hotel from the pedestrian area to the north will now be 

attractively presented. I note however that the section of wall enclosing the Town House 

courtyard is still specified to be in brick – I assume this is an oversight on the plans. Also, 

the site location plan still shows the boundary walls in their original position. Perhaps 

amendments to the plans to clarify these points should be requested – not least for the 

avoidance of doubt.  

 
5.1.2 The existing opening onto Cheyne Lane appears to be a modern alteration to the original 

wall - there is a concrete lintol over the opening and the reveals appear to be 

comparatively recently formed. In my opinion, if its is confirmed that the opening can be 

blocked, this would be better carried out in matching stone coursed through with the 

existing, with the lintol removed. 

Comments received 23/2/23 

The points previously raised have now been dealt with. 

 

5.2 Stamford Civic Society 

5.2.1 (Comments on original scheme) - We object strongly to this application on the grounds of: 

 

I. The quality of the proposed works 

II. The closing off of areas that for generations have provided free public access. This 

includes access from Cheyne Lane. These proposals may be open to legal 

challenge. 

 
5.2.2 We feel that this proposal sits very uneasily in the space, its feeling is domestic and this clashes 

with the scale and quality of the rear of the hotel, with the apse staircase structure and the overall 

height topped off with the splendid lanterns. It would be better left open as part of a landscaping 

scheme to help rejuvenate the whole courtyard to the rear and provide an external green space for 

the old hotel and the proposed conversion of the Black Bull whilst retaining the current rights of 

way through and across the site. 

 

5.3 Lincolnshire Fire and Safety 

5.3.1 We have no representation to make with regards to Application S22/1866. 

 

5.3.2 With regards to your enquiry relating to egress in the event of fire, fire safety guidance for 

non-domestic premises, or for buildings with two or more dwellings, states that where a 

final exit discharges into an enclosed area, further access to a place of total safety should 

be available by means of further doors or gates that can be easily opened in a manner 

similar to the final exit. 

 

5.3.3 Final exit doors should be quickly and easily openable without a key or code in the event of 

a fire. Where possible, there should be only one fastening. Any device that impedes people 

making good their escape, either by being unnecessarily complicated to manipulate or not 

being readily openable will not be acceptable. This also applies to any external gates within 

courtyards where premises are non-domestic or serve two or more dwellings. 

53



 

 
 

5.4 Historic England 

5.4.1 In this case, we are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on the 

merits of the application. 

 

5.5 Stamford Town Council (comments on original plans) 

5.5.1 Strong objection. The proposed courtyard areas are of poor design and not in keeping with 

the existing grandeur of the building, contrary to SKDC Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting 

Good Quality Design). The opening to Cheyne Lane has always been used as a Public 

Right of Way and has historical significance. The blocking up of this opening is contrary to 

SKDC Local Plan Policy EN6 (Historic Environment) and Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 8 (Historic Environment). 

 

6 Representations as a result of publicity 
 

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 

Community Involvement and 3 letters of representation have been received.  The points 

raised can be summarised as follows: 

 

1.  Impact on local business trade as a result of the development and resultant 

construction works 

2.  Public right of way being blocked by closing the opening in Cheyne Lane 

3.  Safety concerns in relation to exit routes for No.17a Evaluation 

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Impact on the listed building 

 

7.1.1 The Local Planning Authority is required to ensure that special regard to preserving the 

Listed Buildings and their settings in relation to Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the 'Act'). No harm should be caused with the historical 

assets and their surroundings requiring to be preserved or enhanced.  

 

7.1.2 Furthermore, the importance of considering the impact of development on the significance 

of designated heritage assets is expressed in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF). The NPPF advises that development and alterations to designated assets and 

their settings can cause harm. These policies ensure the protection and enhancement of 

the historic buildings and environments. Proposals that preserve those elements of the 

setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance should be 

treated favourably.  

 

7.1.3 Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) states amongst other criteria that the Council will 

seek to protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies 

in the National Planning Policy Framework. Proposals will be expected to take into account 

the Conservation Area Appraisals, where these have been adopted by the Council. 

Following comments from the SKDC Conservation Consultant on the original proposal, it 

was considered that the proposed layout and the proposed dividing walls to be erected 

within the rear courtyard to the building were not satisfactory and amended plans were 

submitted. The latest version of plans provided show a less complex and sprawling design 

54



 

 
 

with stone walls and copings with timber gates. SKDC's Conservation Officer confirmed 

there are now no objections to this scheme as these plans address the previous concerns 

in terms of appearance and layout. It is considered that this design better respects the 

layout of this area and now results in minimal intrusion whilst still providing the desired 

amenity space the proposal relates too. 

 

7.1.4 Policy 8 of the adopted Stamford Neighbourhood Plan(The Historic Environment) states 

development will be supported where it conserves or enhances the significance of 

designated and non-designated heritage assets and their setting, through high quality and 

sensitive design, taking into consideration appropriate scale, materials and siting in relation 

to historic views identified within the Stamford Conservation Area Appraisals. 

 

7.1.5 The proposed blocking up of the existing opening in the wall in Cheyne Lane is considered 

to be acceptable given that the proposal is for the works to be carried out in matching 

materials and it has been noted that the information provided by the applicant suggests the 

opening is of 20th Century modern construction and is not of historic significance. 

 

7.1.6 The Town Council’s and Stamford Civic Society’s comments are noted, however it is the 

view of the Conservation Consultant and the Case Officer that the amended courtyard 

design addresses any previous issues relating to design and would not harm the 

significance of the listed buildings.  

 

7.1.7 Taking the above into account, it is considered that, by virtue of the design, scale and 

materials to be used, the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of the 

listed building in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Stamford Neighbourhood Plan, 

the NPPF Section 16, and Policies DE1 and EN6 of the adopted SKDC Local Plan. 

 

7.2 Public Right Of Way 

 

7.2.1 It has been raised in representation that the existing access which is proposed to be 

blocked up in Cheyne Lane has an established public right of way. This issue has been 

considered under the accompanying full planning application S22/1865 and is not relevant 

to the listed building consent application. 

 

7.3 Fire Safety 

 

7.3.1 The concerns raised relating to fire safety have been discussed the accompanying full 

application S22/1865 and is not relevant to the listed building consent application. 

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

55



 

 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and 

home) of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this 

recommendation. It is considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached. 

 

10 Conclusion  
 

10.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in harm to the significance of the listed 

buildings.  

 

10.2 Therefore, taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal would be 

appropriate for its context and would be in accordance with Stamford Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 8, NPPF Section 16 and Policies DE1 and EN6 of the South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

11 RECOMMENDATION: To authorise the Assistant Director of Growth to approve the 

application subject to the following conditions. 

 

12 Conditions 
 

Time Limit for Commencement  

 

1) The development hereby consented shall be commenced before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out 

in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

Approved Plans 

 

2) The development hereby consented shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans: 

 

i. Proposed Plan re. SE-1425-1000C received 23 February 2023 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 

 

Before the Development is Commenced 

 

3)  Before the works hereby consented are commenced, a method statement for the 

blocking up of the opening in Cheyne Lane shall have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation the wall in accordance with Policy 

EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

4)  Before any of the works on the external elevations for the building(s) hereby 

consented are begun, details (samples upon request) of the materials (including 

56



 

 
 

colour of any render, paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the 

external surfaces shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policies DE1 and EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

5)  Before the courtyard is brought into use, the blocking up of the opening in Cheyne 

Lane shall have been completed in accordance with the approved method 

statement. 

 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of the wall building and in 

accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

6)  Before any part of the development hereby consented is brought into use, the 

external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 

details. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance 

with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Standard Note(s) to Applicant: 

 

1) In reaching the decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and 

proactive manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such it is 

considered that the decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

 

 

57



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



 

 
 

 

60



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

30 March 2023 

  

   

         
  

 

S22/2055 

Proposal: Erection of two storey detached dwelling with garage 
Location: Land To The Rear Of 44 Halfleet, Market Deeping, PE6 8DB 

 
Applicant: Mrs Jessica Fraylich 
Agent: Mr Shayne Andrews 
Application Type: Full Planning Application 

 
Reason for Referral to 
Committee: 

Applicant is a close relative of Cllr Robert Broughton 

Key Issues: Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
Impact on neighbours residential amenities 
 

Technical Documents: Design and Access Statement 
 

 

 

Report Author 

Hannah Noutch, Development Management Planner 

 
 01476 406080 

  Hannah.noutch@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Market and West Deeping 

 

Reviewed by: Adam Murray – Principal Development Management 
Planner 

20 March 2023 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to REFUSE planning permission  

61

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Hannah.noutch@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

  S22/2055 – Land to the rear of 44 Halfleet, Market Deeping 

 

62



 

 
 

1 Description of Site 
 

1.1 The application is located to the rear of No.44 Halfleet, in the Market Town of Market 

Deeping. No.44 Halfleet is a two-storey rendered building which fronts onto the street on 

Halfleet and has an existing vehicle access, which requires vehicles to travel through an 

archway. This access also serves the section of land to the rear of No.44 which forms the 

application site.  

 

1.2 No.44 Halfleet is currently a mix of residential and Bed and Breakfast use, with a concrete 

area to the rear and associated garages used in connection as a Builders Yard. There is 

additionally grassland to the rear which part is included within the B&B section of the plot 

and additional grassland behind this adjacent the garages. This additional section of 

grassland hosts a series of outbuildings and trees.  

 

1.3 To the rear of the site are detached dwellings on Meadway, to the northern side is a modern 

detached bungalow and the opposing southern side is an existing garage block associated 

with No.44 Halfleet and further south is No.48 Halfleet and its associated garden space. 

 

2 Description of Proposal 
 

2.1 The proposed development is for the erection of a two-storey detached dwelling on the 

grassland to the rear of No.44 Halfleet.  

 

2.2 The dwelling would have multiple ridge heights and projections, with the highest ridge height 

reaching approximately 7.88 metres, the secondary ridge reaching approximately 7.16 

metres and the eaves height generally being approximately 4.43 metres.  

 

2.3 It is proposed the end garage on the existing garage block would be included within the 

residential curtilage of the application site.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

3.1 S22/1763 – Erection of a two-storey detached dwelling with garage – Withdrawn 

 

4 Policy Considerations  
 

4.1 SKDC Local Plan 2011 – 2036 

Policy SD1 - The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy 

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy 

Policy SP3 – Infill Development 

Policy DE1 - Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy EN6 - The Historic Environment 

 

4.2 Neighbourhood Plan 

The Deepings Neighbourhood Development Plan 

 

4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

63



 

 
 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 

Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

Section 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 SKDC’s Conservation Consultant 

5.1.1 The site is at some distance outside the Conservation Area and there are no Listed buildings 

in the vicinity which will likely be affected. I can therefore see no objections to the proposal 

on heritage grounds. 

 

5.2 Market Deeping Town Council 

5.2.1 There are concerns about the overall size and height and they consider the development is 

too big for the area. A two storey property is considered to be unacceptable and will impact 

on neighbouring properties. They would like reassurance that there will be adequate bin 

storage facilities. 

 

5.3 Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board 

5.3.1 No comments to make on the application. 

 

5.4 Environmental Protection 

5.4.1 If approved, requests standard conditions relating to contaminated land and construction 

noise be attached. 

 

5.5 The Highways Authority 

5.5.1 The access is of restricted width and runs through no. 44 but it currently serves all site 

activities; existing dwelling; the B & B use & The Builders Yard. The Builders Yard has 

ceased trading which will mean a net reduction in vehicles movements. The access is 

located of a gentle curve in the road, with wide footways & good visibility. There is no scope 

to improve the access but the reduction in movements means this will be a betterment. It is 

therefore not possible to raise an objection to the proposals based on traffic impact, in 

accordance with NPPF. 

 

5.5.2 If approved, requests that a construction management plan and method statement be 

submitted prior to commencement of works. 

 

6 Representations as a result of publicity 
 

6.1 This application has been advertised in accordance with the Council's Statement of 

Community Involvement and 5 letters of objection have been received.  The points raised 

can be summarised as follows: 

 

1.  Concern over scale and impact this could have over adjacent bungalows 

2.  Development too large for the plot and would result in overdevelopment 

3.  Scale is not suitable for back land development 

4.  Concern over potential use of part of the property for business use 

5.  Additional vehicle movements impact on highway safety 

64



 

 
 

6.  Direct views into No. 54 Meadway 

7.  Concern over how construction and delivery vehicles would access site. 

8.  The bungalow which forms No.40 Halfleet will dominated, have a reduction in light, the 

rear elevation will face onto the two storey dwelling and the dwelling would have an 

overbearing impact on both the rear windows and the outdoor amenity space 

9.  Previous refusal and appeal dismissal reasons of S04/1595/56 for a two storey 

dwelling at No.42A Halfleet should be applicable here 

10.  Reduction in light to No.42 Halfleet 

 

6.2 One letter of support has also been received. The points raised can be summarised as 

follows: 

 
1.  Removing conflicting land use and introducing residential use for higher density of 

housing. 

2. Sustainable location, including for transport purposes. 

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the adopted development 

plan comprises of the following documents:  

 

- South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

- The Deepings Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2036 (Adopted June 2021) 

 

7.2 The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan forms part of the development plan in 

relation to minerals planning.  

 

7.3 The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (updated July 

2021) are also a material consideration in the determination of planning applications, 

alongside the recently adopted Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven. 

 

7.4 The Planning Inspectorate confirmed that the Council has a 5.2 year housing land supply in 

October 2022 and therefore full weight can be attributed to the policies in the South 

Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

7.5 Principle of Development 

 

7.5.1 Policy SD1 (The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven) sets out the 

overarching obligation for development proposals to minimise its impact on climate and 

contribute toward a strong, stable and more diverse economy. The policy requires 

consideration of a number of matters including the impact of development of climate change, 

minimising the need to travel, avoiding development of areas of flood risk and development 

proposals giving rise to pollution, encouraging the use of previously developed or 

underutilised land, providing a supply of housing to meet the needs of present and future 

generations, and enhancing the character, natural environment and cultural and historic 

environment of the District. 

65



 

 
 

7.5.2 The South Kesteven Local Plan (SKLP) sets out the principles for the location of 

development within Policies SP1 and SP2. Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the 

strategy for the District during the plan period. It identifies that the overall strategy of the 

Local Plan is to deliver sustainable growth, including new housing and job creation, in order 

to facilitate growth in the local economy and support local residents.  

 

7.5.3 Decisions about the location and scale of new development will be taken on the basis of the 

settlement hierarchy set out in Policy SP2. Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy), alongside 

Policy SP1, seeks to focus the majority of new development to Grantham to support and 

strengthen its role as a Sub-Regional Centre, followed by the three other market towns 

being Stamford, Bourne and The Deepings, then in the hierarchy comes the larger villages, 

followed by smaller villages. SP2 states that development in Smaller Villages, development 

will be supported in accordance with Policy SP3, SP4 and all other relevant policies, where 

development will not compromise the village's nature and character. 

 

7.5.4 The application site in this instance lies within Market Deeping, and as such, comprises a 

one of the market towns as defined by policy SP2. 

 

7.5.5 SP3 (Infill Development) states that in all settlements defined in Policy SP2, infill 

development, which is in accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be 

supported provided that: 

 

a. it is within a substantially built-up frontage or re-development opportunity 

(previously development land); 

b.  it is within the main built up part of the settlement;  

c.  it does not cause harm or unacceptable impact upon the occupiers amenity of 

adjacent properties; 

d.  it does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; 

and it is in keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting 

of adjacent properties. 

 

7.5.6 The proposal would be backland development due to its location to the rear of No.44 

Halfleet. However, there is also residential dwellings directly to the rear and side (north) 

boundaries and the detached garage block and a further dwelling to the south. The site is 

located within the main built-up part of Market Deeping and would not extend the existing 

pattern of development beyond the existing built form. Therefore, the site is considered be 

assessed as an infill site in accordance with criteria a, b and d of SP3. Consideration will be 

given to whether the proposal meets criteria c and the latter part of d in the sections below. 

 

7.6 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 

 

7.6.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all 

development proposals will be expected to make a positive contribution to local 

distinctiveness, vernacular and character of the area. Proposals should reinforce local 

identity and not have an adverse impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the 

landscape / townscape character of the surrounding area. Proposals should be of an 

appropriate scale, density, massing, height and material, given the context of the area.  Part 

66



 

 
 

12 of the NPPF (Achieving well-designed places) states that good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development and new development should be visually attractive as a result of 

good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 

 

7.6.2 Policy EN6 (The Historic Environment) states amongst other criteria that the Council will 

seek to protect and enhance heritage assets and their settings, in keeping with the policies 

in the National Planning Policy Framework. Proposals will be expected to take into account 

the Conservation Area Appraisals, where these have been adopted by the Council. 

 

7.6.3 The scale of the proposed dwelling by way of its height would be excessive and 

uncharacteristic for its context as back land development in this area. It is noted that the 

proposal would be screened from view to the east by the existing property (No 44 Halfleet). 

However, when travelling in both directions on Halfleet, the dwelling would be taller than the 

existing development to either side and would be visible from these angles.  

 

7.6.4 It is Officers’ assessment that, in relation to the immediately surrounding properties, with the 

bungalows to the north and south, the proposal would be out of keeping with the character 

of development with the development in this area, in particular back land development on 

this section of Halfleet. Supporting information has been provided as justification of two 

storey dwellings as back land development in Market Deeping and further along Halfleet on 

the eastern side of the street. In response to this, each application is considered on its own 

merits, and it is not considered consistent with the western side of the street on Halfleet, for 

this scale of development when there is already quite high density built form surrounding 

the application site. 

 

7.6.5 SKDC’s Conservation Consultant confirmed that the proposal is sufficiently distanced from 

any Conservation Area or Listed Buildings to result in any impact to heritage assets.  

 

7.6.6 By virtue of the scale and nature of the location of the proposed development, it would be 

out of keeping with the surrounding built form and character and appearance of the 

streetscene and surrounding context, contrary to Policies SP3 and DE1 of the South 

Kesteven Local Plan .the Deepings Neighbourhood Plan Policy DNP9 and NPPF Sections 

12. 

 

7.7 Impact on Neighbours Residential Amenities 

 

7.7.1 Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) of the adopted Local Plan states (amongst 

other criteria) that all development proposals will be expected to ensure there is no adverse 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of privacy 

and loss of light and provide sufficient private amenity space, suitable to the type and 

amount of development proposed.  Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that developments 

should create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 

well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime 

and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 

cohesion and resilience. 

 

7.7.2 The Rutland and South Kesteven Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) 

identifies that residential amenity is determined by a range of factors such as space, privacy, 

67



 

 
 

outlook, outdoor space and natural light, and identifies as a series of rules/standards that 

will be utilised to assess the quality of residential amenity provided by development 

proposals. This includes the following:  

 

-  Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, including 

habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms, bedrooms), kitchens and patio areas in 

gardens immediately adjoining the building.  

-  The '45-degree rule' states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no part of a building cuts through a line radiating 

at 4 degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable room.  

-  The '25-degree rule' states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25-degree angle  

 

7.7.3 It is considered that the proposal by way of its scale would result in an overbearing and 

dominant impact to No.40 Halfleet. The development would be located directly south of this 

properties rear elevation and outdoor amenity space. At present No.40 has development to 

both the eastern and western sides of the proposal, with the only open aspect being to the 

south. As proposed the proposal would span almost the entire width of this garden at two 

storey height. It is therefore considered that the rear outdoor amenity space of this property 

would no longer retain sufficient amenity due to being the overbearing impact of the 

proposed dwelling. It is considered that if approved, due to the proximity of 2.5 metres from 

the boundary and 10 metres to the nearest ground floor rear window serving a habitable 

room, that this window would also  be harmed by the proposal. 

 

7.7.4 It is considered that due to the orientation of the proposed dwelling, the separation distances 

and positioning of both No.54 Meadway and No.42A Halfleet should prevent any 

unacceptable adverse impact to the occupiers’ residential amenities. 

 

7.7.5 It is considered that due to the proximity of the front projecting section of the dwelling in 

relation to the outdoor amenity areas of No.44 Halfleet, there would be harm resulting to the 

amenity of the users of this space, which is partially residential, by way of direct overlooking. 

 

7.7.6 Taking into account the nature and scale of the proposal in relation to neighbouring property 

No.40 Halfleet, it is considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable adverse 

impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of this property by way of 

overdominance and loss of privacy, contrary to the Deepings Neighbourhood Plan Policy 

DNP9, NPPF Section 12, and Policy DE1 of the Local Plan. 

 

7.8 Highway issues 

 

7.8.1 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused 

on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 

 

7.8.2 Despite the objections that were received mentioning that they believe the dwelling would 

result in an increase in vehicular traffic, LCC Highways have confirmed that in fact the 

ceasing of the adjacent builders yard would result is anticipated to result in a net reduction 

in vehicle traffic movements. Nevertheless, LCC Highways also confirmed there is 

considered to be good visibility from this access and due to it already having served multiple 

68



 

 
 

uses successfully, including residential use, they raise no objections to the proposal on 

highways grounds. 

 

7.8.3 It is also worth noting due to the nature of the existing access within the frontage of No.44 

Halfleet, it would not be possible to extend or amend this access. 

 

7.8.4 If the development was to be approved, LCC Highways have requested a construction 

management plan and method statement. It is considered that if approved, a condition 

requiring this would also provide adequate response to other issues raised in the objections 

such as how construction and delivery vehicles would be managed. 

 

7.8.5 The proposal would retain acceptable vehicular access, parking and turning facilities and 

would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety in accordance with the 

NPPF Section 9.  

 

7.9 Climate Change 

 

7.9.1 As previously identified, the application site is located within the main built-up part of the 

settlement of Market Deeping, which is a settlement identified within the Local Plan as being 

an appropriate location for residential development of the scale proposed. As such, the 

application would accord with the locational principles of Policy SD1.  

 

7.9.2 Nonetheless, it is acknowledged that the application submission does not specifically 

provide details about how the proposed dwelling would accord with the policy obligations of 

Local Plan Policy SB1, which requires developments to minimise carbon emissions and 

support low carbon travel through the provision of electric vehicle charging points. As such, 

if approved, a condition would be attached to require the submission of further details of 

sustainable building measures, in accordance with the requirements of Policy SB1. 

 

7.10 Mineral Safeguarding 

 

7.10.1 The application site falls within a mineral safeguarding area. As the site forms part of an 

existing developed site within a predominantly residential street and the proposal is a minor 

development, pre-extraction of mineral is not considered to be reasonable. Due to the scale 

and location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposal would not have 

an unacceptable adverse impact on mineral resources. As such, the proposal is deemed to 

comply with Policy M11 of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

 

7.11 Other Matters 

 

7.11.1 Concern was raised in representation over potential use of part of the proposed dwelling for 

business purposes such as a beauty salon in future. We are unable to consider potential 

future uses under this application and can only consider the proposal as it stands, which is 

for a dwelling. If the application was approved and in future it was decided to change the 

dwelling to a beauty salon in whole or in part, then an application would need to be submitted 

where necessary and any such application would be treated on its own merits. If 

unauthorised use of the building as a beauty salon took place, this should be reported to the 

Planning Enforcement Team. 

69



 

 
 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. 

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that act will be breached. 

 

10 Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 

10.1 Having considered the harm identified to both the character and appearance of the area 

and neighbours residential amenities, the provision of a single dwelling would not be 

sufficient outweigh this harm. There are no other material considerations to outweigh this 

harm. 

 

10.2 Therefore, the proposal is contrary to policy DNP9 of the Deepings Neighbourhood Plan 

NPPF Section 12 and Policies SP3 and DE1 of the SKDC Local Plan.  

 

10.3 The site is at some distance outside the Conservation Area and there are no Listed buildings 

in the vicinity which will likely be affected, as such there are no objections to the proposal 

on heritage grounds. 

 

11 Recommendation: 
 

To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to REFUSE planning permission for the 

following reason(s):  

 

1. The proposed dwelling, by way of its scale and height, would be out of keeping with the 

character and appearance of backland development within this section of Halfleet and 

would result in harm to both the streetscene and surrounding area. Therefore, the proposal 

is contrary to Policies SP3 and DE1 of the SKDC Local Plan,  Policy DNP9 of the Deepings 

Neighbourhood Plan, and Section 12 of the NPPF 

 

2. The proposed dwelling, by way of its scale, height and location, would result in an 

unacceptable overbearing and excessively dominant impact to both the rear windows and 

outdoor private amenity space of No.40 Halfleet. Due to the proximity and windows in the 

front elevation to No.44 Halfleet, there would be loss of privacy by means of overlooking to 

the associated outdoor amenity area. Therefore, the proposal is contrary to Policies SP3 

and DE1 of the SKDC Local Plan. Policy DNP9 of the Deepings Neighbourhood Plan, 

Section 12 of the NPPF and the adopted Design Guidelines SPD.  

 

 

 

Note(s) to Applicant 

70



 

 
 

 

1. There is a fundamental objection to the proposal and it is considered that this cannot be 

overcome. Consideration has not been delayed by discussions which cannot resolve the 

reasons for refusal. The decision therefore accords with paragraphs 38 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

 

71



 

 
 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

 
 

72



 

 
 

Proposed Elevation Plans 

 

 

73



 

 
 

 

74



 

 
 

Proposed Floor Plans 

 

 

75



 

 
 

 

76


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2023
	Minutes

	4 Application S22/1865
	5 Application S22/1866
	6 Application S22/2055

